G Seholustica’s (lloge: Hon Finst Sindy Years

e Sister M. Soledad, O.5.B.

"My dear Sisters, I see in spirit our Sisters in big numbers spread
over the Philippines, in many houses working for the salvation of immortal
souls for the greater glory of God.” With a vision of hope, Mother
Birgina Korff, O.5.B. (the fitst Prioress General of the Congregation
of the Missicnary Benedietine Sisters of Tutzing which was then no
more than a sapling though it branched from a trunk whose roots were
thirteen-and-a-half centuries cld) sent five of her spiritual daughters off
to the Philippines, in. August 1906. On the 14th of September, on the
day the Catholic Church celebrates the feast of the Exaltation of the
Holy Cross, the Sisters arrived in Manila.

The entrance of the Congregation into the Philippine missionary
field was answer to a request expressed in November of 1905: the
Philippines had newly launched a widespread system of public, secular
education; and the call for new missicnaries issuing frem the islands
reached the Pricress General i+ Brazil where she was founding the Con-
gregation’s first mission in South America.* It was hardly the time
to cpen another mission cn the other side of the globe. But there was
the need of the Church, of God's people. And the dream of a future
St. Scholastica’s College in Manila was Mother Birgitta's answer. St
Scholastica’s should be part of the eternal hymn of praise and glory
rising to God.

* Soon after its foundation in Germany in 1883, the Congregation sent
Sisters to Africa, where there are now four priories. In later years houses
were estzblished in other countries of Europe, the United States, Korea and
Japan, besides South America and the Philippines.
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The first house in Tondo hardly deserved the name “school”. It
opened classes on the 3td of December 1906 for eight students. When
the prospect of enrolment increased to eleven students, including board-
ers frogn the South, the school was considered overcrowded, and the
need for larger quarters became imperative. The vacated military bar-
racks and stables of San Marcelino, where St. Theresa’s College now
stands constituted the second site. Seven years of growth alongside
that of the city of Manila were spent in that place. Then, in 1914, out
moved blackboards, charts, desks, everything, to the swampy, litte.in.
habited area of Singalong district in the outskirts of Manila. Here, the
first of the pre-war buildings was built, the first home St Scholasticd’s
could reallv call her own.

Six years after her establishment, St. Scholastica’s branched out to
Legazpi in Albay. Shortly after World War I, daughter houses opened
one after the other: In Opon, Cebu; in Bacolor and Angeles, Pam-
panga; in Mambajao on Camiguin Island; in Boac, Marinduque; and
in Mexico, Pampanga. In the 1930°s schools were founded in Omoc,
Leyte; and Candaba, Pampanga. Just a few months before the out-
break of World War II, a new foundation was begun in Sta. Cruz,
laguna, only to be razed by fire in the Liberation of 1945.

St. Schelastica’s, now a pnory, was for a time during the Occupa.
tion, a refuge for other homeless Religious and a sanctuary for a num-
ber of other evacuces. S: Scholastica’s, too, was a hospital for American
soldiers, and then for Japanese soldiers, .with the Sisters serving as
nurses and orderlies. But when the smoke and furor of the Liberation
of 1945 died dowm, St. Scholastica’s was one stretch of rubble: only
two small, old wooden buildings remained erect, badly scarred, but still
standing, Old St. Scholastica’s was down, but Benedictine roots die
hard. and soon a new St. Scholastica’s was shooting forth from the
ashes and through the broken stones.

With bardly a pause for breath after the Liberation, three other
scheols were erected: one in Taal, Batangas; and two on the island
of Levte — in Maasin and in Carigara. A number of the schools had
been destroved during the war, or had passed on to other hands, but
other houses had been opened in their stead. And so, from 1945 1o



668 BOLETIN ECLESIASTICO DE FILIPINAS

1948, St. Scholastica’s priory concentrated on replenishing and steength-
ening the staff in existing houses whose personnel had been reduced
number by the War, Then, once more, she paid heed to incessant re-
quests for additional schools. The twin-schools, St. Benedict's Academy
in Guinobatan, Albay and St. Scholastica’s Academy in Bacolod City
opened simultaneously in 1958. Two more St. Scholasncas followed :
in Marikina Heights in 1961 and in Tabunok, Cebu, four years lacer.
Assumption College in San Fermando, Pampanga, was started for the
diocese in 1963 and turned over to diocesan admunistration in 1966
after establishment work was done.

The Philippines in the early twentieth century was musical even as
it had been before the seven thousand islands were unified under a
single name, and even as it is now, at the approach of another century.
But the music in the people’s song and dance and thythm bhad as yet
not been moulded into form, nor analyzed and enriched by contact
with the music of other lands, and other times in other places. St
Scholastica’s had in her small community of Sisters one who had been a
known concertist before her convent days. Through her dedication and
eventually her supervision, St. Scholastica’s conservatory was established.

In 1907, mainly because it was as vet little known locally, it was
difficult to excite interest in music education. Sister M. Baptista Battig,
O.5.B., S5t Scholastica’s pianist, was presented, with ecclesiastical per-
mission, at two concerts. This intreduced her gift to the Manila public
and interested society in the new branch of education the year-old school
was opening. The public caught enthusiasm for the new conservatary
and for formal education. Sister Baptista retired behind the stage cur-
rains to set herself to developing Filipino musicians, a task she under-
took till her death in the early part of World War II, thirty-five yeas
later. For many years, therefore, St. Scholastica’s Conservatory of
Music gave to the Philippine world of music such leaders and artists as
Lucrecia Kasilag, Estrella Wijangco-Ackermann, Leonor Laperal-Acce
and Sister M. Cyril Ferroils, S.SP.S.; moreover, succeeding heads of
the post-war School of Music have been students of Sister Baptista.

American democracy gave new ideals to the Filipino woman of the
post-World War I era. She now saw herself intellecrually developed,
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able to meet a man on equal grounds in the professions, and secking
equality of rights in society and government. St Scholastica's had in
her classrooms young gitls growing up into women with these ideals. The
elementary and secondary schools were made to grow; and college courses
were expanded as the Filipino woman’s horizon widened: by the out-
break of World War II courses for the Scholastican college student
ranged from the liberal and fine arts to commerce and preparatory law
and medicine, and even to. graduate studies in music and education.

The years after World War II saw colleges and universities mush-
rooming 1n almost every city of the Philippines. It also saw the Filipina
weman not only equipped, and further equipping herself with the bene.
fits of higher education, but also drawn out of the home by careers and
professions in what used to be man’s world exclusively, The young
Filipina now more than ever needed orentation and an understanding
of her fundamental role; moreover, she needed to find a way by which
she might successfully harmonize the dual function modern life was cer-
tzin to require of her. The Filipina studying to be a rteacher, a coun-
selor, chemist, musician or business executive would not be just any of those
professionals for long. St. Scholastica’s knew that most of her students
would, some years after college, be a wife-and.mother and teacher, a
wife-and-mother and pianist, ete. The wife-and-mother part would al-
most invariably be there; and every Scholastican had to be prepared
for so loftv a dignitv as an individual, and so vital a responsibility to
the Church and to her country. Se. Scholastica’s dropped many of her
pre-war college courses and concentrated on a few with the special ob-
jective of preparing the woman for her role in society, in the changing
seCicty.

In September of 1957 St. Scholastica’s College was accredited by
the Philippine Accrediting Asseciation of Schools, Colleges and Univer-
sities, the first accrediting body in the Philippines. At the same time
St. Scholastica’s became a charter member of the association. Re-accre-
ditation was earned in 1960, and again in 1967. Tn 1965 St. Scholastica’s
high scheol department was one of the two high schools that soughe
and gained accreditation from the same association, Thirty-two years
carlier the Board of Educational Survey, confirming the report of the
Educational Survey Commission of 1925, named two schools as repre-
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sentatives of those maintaining “the highest standards with reference
to physical plant, equipment, teaching personnel, and methods of ins.
truction.” (A Swrvey of the Educational System of the Philippine
Istands by the Board of Educational Survey, Manila, Bureau of Printing,
1925, p. 93)}. St. Scholastica’s College was one of the two. Excellence
as a criterion in her educational work was given to St. Scholastica's
by her superiors as far back as her start. She has subscribed to excel:
lence — or more correctly, striven after excellence — not for excellence’s
sake, but because excellence is part of her idea of service to God and
the Filipino people in educating the youth. Her first directress, Sistet
M. Willibalda Schrader, O.SB., gave the tone to the school when she
headed it in 1908; she kept the pitch through the succeeding thirty years
of her service as school-head ull 1938; and passed on the heritage 1o
her successors. Doing anything to one’s utmost and one’s best is but
trading wisely with one’s talents and living for the greater glory of God.

The past sixty years of St. Scholastica’s College have been charac:
terized by decisions which were a response to the needs of the moment
rather than by projects resulting from long-range planning. Her pioneer-
ing in the field of music in the Philippines, the adjustments in her college
curriculum to fulfill the ever-changing needs of the Filipino woman —
these speak of her desire to strive after excellence in educating the Filipino
woman. The pace of her progress has been irregular in her staving for
ideals; she has achieved a harmony that is not dissonant with the eternal
“music of the spheres,” in her efforts to strike a balance between woman's
unchanging role as wife and mother and her other role in the career and
professional world.

St. Scholastica’s has always had the poor and the sick and the igno-
rant with her. When she first flung her schooldoors open in 1906
to eight tuition-paying students, she at the same time opened a free
school in an adjoining garage for fifty boys and girls. The school,
which taught and continues to teach old and young alike, has ever been
with 51 Scholastica’s College, at times sharing rooms with the college
during those hours when the collegiates were not using the rooms. In
1921, the Free School was formally established, given its own quarters in
a section of the college compound, and granted government recognition.
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Six hundred boys and girls fill up its rooms every year. The expansion
to a free high school is a cherished dream at the moment.

Little known and even less publicized is the extension work under.
taken by St. Scholastica’s to bring the Word of God to the masses.
In the early years, Sundays found hardly a Sister left at home in the
convent. Mission work in parishes, in barrio catechetical centers, along
seasides and hills, in reformatories, in prisons and hospitals, brought
the Sisters outr weekends. In extension work, Manila’s community of
Benedictine Sisters ranged from Morong, Pateros, and similar places
along the Pasig and out across the Bay to Corregidor. Summer time
was “mission time” both in Manila and the provinces for Sisters engaged
in the regular schools during the academic year. In 1920, 5S¢, Scholas-
tica’s invited her students to help the Sisters reach out to these under-
privileged. This sharing in apostolic work has gone on ever since; today
close to five hundred college students of the Manila college engage in it.

The care for the indigent sick in Manila has been an almost natural
outgrowth of the Free School. From the very start, an ambulant dis-
pensary tended to the families of the Free School students as well as to
other poor families in the neighborhood. But in 1952, St. Stephen’s Pat-
ronage, cccupying a part of the Free School area, extended its menial ser-
vices to the poor more widely and more professicanllz, with the volunteer
services of two doctors. Today it has about a thousand families on its
regular list.  Every house of the priory carries on similar dispensary waork.
In 1965 the Philippine priory tock on another medium for beinging God
to man: it engaged in hospital work for the first time in the Philippines
when it undertook the administration of St. Paul’s in Tacloban City.

Up unnl World War 11, the great majority of the Sisters working
at St. Scholastica’s College and the Philippine priory had come from the
Mother-house in Germany. Since 1945, however, the Philippine novitiate
has grown and has been the main source of additional personnel for the
Philippine houses. In 1958, the Philippines went a step further and
started to send out Filipino Sisters to mission abroad.

As 81 Scholastica’s cast a backward look through her first sixty vears,
she sees that the thousands of bright-eyed girls and voung women who
had made her halls ring with laughter and love and occasional tears,
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have, all become “musicians” of a sort: their voices contribute to the
“eternal music of the spheres” although admittedly in a chythm that is
not always uniform. Some voices have transcended the sublunary: Cecilia
Munoz-Palma’s metes out justice; Carmen Dinglasan-Consing’s has helped
frame the nation’s laws. Joaquina Lucas has introduced the Legion of
Mary to other lands, Teresa Feria-Nieva, the Christian Family Movement
to her own country. More have been heard from the helm of different
educational institutions: St Scholastica’s own subprioress, directress,
and deans at present were all once students in her classrooms. A good
number have chosen to follow QOur Lord in St. Scholastica’s own and in
many other convents. St. Scholastica’s first religious vocation was one
of her first pupils and boarders, Trinidad Lacson, who became a Benedic-
tine nun in the Abbey of East Bergholt in England. The professional
and scientific fields, the areas of social action, claim the time and the
talents and the services of many a Scholastican alumna. Among the
alumnae’s latest ventures—and perhaps among the most courageous and
timely—is the sponsoring, from its building to its maintenance of services,
of a free vocational high school for financially poor girls in Bacolod City.
But where St. Scholastica’s daughters are shining in greatest abundance, in
seeming silence and anonymity while wielding deep and unparalleled in-
fluence, is the sphere of the home. Here is their special place and here
thev reign and

The world is formed or torn apart as the woman nurtures or breaks
the home. Thus, as St. Scholastica’s enters a new age of big changes
and bigger challenges in a world that calls for deep involvement, St.
Scholastica’s renews her commitment to service in love for each child:
that each child’s life might be a clear note blending harmoniously with
the exquisite “music of the spheres.”



